
 
 

Mr S Hearse 
Chief Executive 

Torridge District Council 

Riverbank House 
Bideford 

Devon 
EX39 2QG 

 
Tel : Bideford (01237) 428700 

 

 

 

 
Date: 2 September 2022 

 

 

MEETING OF COMMUNITY & RESOURCES  
COMMITTEE 

 

On: Monday 12 September 2022 At: 6.00 pm 

Venue: Caddsdown Business Support Centre, Clovelly Road, Bideford - Bideford 

 
NOTICE OF MEETING 

 

From the 7 May 2021, the law requires all councils to hold formal meetings in person. The 
Council is also required to follow Government guidance and ensure that all venues used 

are Covid secure and that all appropriate measures are put in place. Members of the public 
will be able to attend the meeting in person if they are registered to speak under public 

participation. Any members of the public who want to view the meeting will be able to watch 
through the Councils YouTube Channel https://tinyurl.com/TorridgeYouTube 

 

 

To: Councillor R Hicks (Chair) 
Councillor A Dart (Vice-Chair) 

Councillors: D Brenton, C Bright, D Bushby, P Christie, C Hodson, D Hurley, 
K James, N Laws, R Lock and S Newton 

 
Members are requested to turn off their mobile phones for the duration of the meeting 

 

 

AGENDA 
PART I - (OPEN SESSION) 

 

 

1.   Apologies for Absence  

 To receive apologies for absence from the meeting. 

 

2.   Minutes of the Community & Resources Committee meeting held on 25 July 

2022 (Pages 3 - 6) 

3.   Action List (Pages 7 - 9) 

https://tinyurl.com/TorridgeYouTube


 
 

 

4.   Public Contributions  

 Public contributions in accordance with the current scheme.  (The deadline for 

registering  to speak is by 2pm Thursday 8 September 2022. To register please email 
demservices@torridge.gov.uk). 

 

5.   Forward Plan (Page 10) 

6.   Declarations of Interest  

 Members with interests to declare should refer to the agenda item and describe the 

nature of their interest when the item is being considered. 
 

7.   Agreement of Agenda between Parts I and II  

8.   Urgent Matters of information to be brought forward with the permission of the 

Chair and the Committee  

9.   Digital by Default & ICT Strategy (Pages 11 - 24) 

 To receive the report of the Strategy, Performance and ICT Manager.  
 

10.   Torrington Tennis Courts (Pages 25 - 27) 

 To receive the report of the Head of Communities & Place 
 

11.   Homelessness Duty to Accommodate/Support  

 To receive an update from the Head of Legal & Governance (Monitoring Officer) 
 

12.   Skateboard Park  

 To receive an update from the Head of Communities & Place 

 

13.   Exclusion of the Public  

 The Chair to move: 

 
That the public be excluded from the remainder of the meeting because of the likely 

disclosure of exempt information by virtue of paragraph 3 of Part I and paragraph 10 
of Part 2 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 

14.   PART II (CLOSED SESSION)  

15.   Disposal of TDC Land/Asset  

 To receive the report of the Head of Communities & Place – to follow 
 

Meeting Organiser: Sandra Cawsey 
 

mailto:demservices@torridge.gov.uk


1 
 

 
 

TORRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

COMMUNITY & RESOURCES MEETING 
 

Caddsdown Business Support Centre - Bideford 
 

Monday, 25 July 2022 - 10.00 am 

 
 

PRESENT Councillor R Hicks (Chair) 
 Councillors D Brenton, D Bushby, P Christie, C Hodson, 

D Hurley, K James, N Laws and S Newton 

 
ALSO PRESENT S Hearse - Chief Executive 

 S Dorey - Head of Legal & Governance (Monitoring 
Officer) 

 S Kearney - Head of Communities & Place 

 D Heyes - Finance Manager (Section 151 Officer) 
 T Vanstone - Senior Electoral & Democratic Services 

Officer 
 S Cawsey - Democratic Services Officer 

 

 Councillor C Leather 
 

261.    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors C Bright, A Dart and  

R Lock. 
 

262.    MINUTES OF THE COMMUNITY & RESOURCES COMMITTEE MEETING 
HELD ON 6 JUNE 2022  
 

It was proposed by Councillor Hicks, seconded by Councillor Hodson and - 
 

Resolved:   That the Minutes of the meeting held on 6 June 2022 be signed as a 
correct record. 
 

(Vote:  For 6, Abstentions 3)  
 

 
Matters Arising 
 

Councillor Brenton referred to minute no. 259 and enquired as to whether South 
West Water had responded to the questions forwarded to them in relation to 

pollution of the estuary.  The Senior Electoral and Democratic Services Officer said 
this would be included on the Action List but believed a response had been 
received.  He will investigate further. 

 
NB – following the meeting it was established that South West Water had 

responded and the information had been forwarded to Members of the External 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



2 
 

 
 

Overview & Scrutiny Committee and to those also present at the meeting.  This 
information to be attached to the action list. 

 
Councillor Christie informed Members that he will be putting forward a Notice of 

Motion regarding South West Water’s response of “no problems” on planning 
applications for large estates.   
 

263.    PUBLIC CONTRIBUTIONS  
 

There were no public contributions. 
 

264.    FORWARD PLAN  
 

The Forward Plan was noted.   

 
265.    DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 

Declarations of interest were made when the specific agenda items to which they 
related were under discussion. 

 
266.    AGREEMENT OF AGENDA BETWEEN PARTS I AND II  

 

There were no Part II items. 
 

267.    URGENT MATTERS OF INFORMATION TO BE BROUGHT FORWARD WITH 
THE PERMISSION OF THE CHAIR AND THE COMMITTEE  
 

There were no urgent matters brought forward. 
 

268.    4/5 HUBBASTONE ROAD PROPERTY CONVERSION TO HOSTEL 
ACCOMMODATION  
 

The purpose of the report, presented by the Head of Communities & Place, was for 
Members to consider the conversion of the offices at 4/5 Hubbastone Road into 

hostel accommodation. 
 
The following points were raised during the discussion: 

 

 Running costs – the Finance Manager explained the figures in the report are 

estimated and based on hostel costs elsewhere on the Council’s port folio.  
Councillor Christie proposed that a report giving details of the costs be 
brought back to Members in 12 months’ time.  The Head of Communities & 

Place recommended a report be brought back after 18 months to allow for 
the time involved in bringing the project to fruition as will take some months 

for the work to be completed. 
 

 Planning –the Head of Communities & Place to check with the Planning 

Department that an application is required or whether it is permitted 
development. 

 

Page 4



3 
 

 
 

 Who will be using the accommodation - the Chief Executive explained  the 
Authority has a legal requirement to house people under the Homelessness 

Legislation.  It will be people from within the area, but with various schemes 
such as homes for Ukrainian people, individuals arriving into the UK, it is 

likely to result in some being the responsibility of Torridge.   There is no 
definitive answer to the question.  The Head of Legal agreed to bring to the 
next meeting an update on the Councils Statutory Duty on who they must 

provide accommodation for. 
 

It was proposed by Councillor Hicks, seconded by Councillor Christie and - 
 
Resolved: 

 
That the proposal for the use of 4/5 Hubbastone Road as hostel accommodation as 

detailed in this report be approved and the capital spend on the conversion costs 
and the submission of planning permission for change of use of No 4 from office 
use to hostel use be authorised. 

 
(Vote:  For – Unanimous) 

 
269.    DECISION TAKEN UNDER URGENCY PROCEDURE  

 

The purpose of presenting this item was for Members to note the urgent decision 
recently taken under the Council’s Urgency Procedure in relation to the £150 

Energy Rebate Discretionary Scheme. 
 
In accordance with the Constitution there is a requirement for decisions to be 

reported to the next appropriate Community & Resources Committee explaining the 
reason for the urgency. 

 
The Committee noted this item. 
 

270.    MINUTES OF HARBOUR BOARD  
 

Councillor Bushby gave a brief verbal report on minute number 126 – Proposal for 
coffee van on Fisherman’s Quay.  He gave his support to this proposal and to other 
business proposals that may come forward. 

 
The Head of Communities & Place reported no resolution was required at this 

meeting because at Harbour Board it had been agreed the business operates for a 
trial period of two months.  Consideration would then be given to see if it is an 
option for future years and if successful, a report would come back to this 

Committee to establish a more permanent use of that space.   
 

At the start of the trial of this proposal the Harbour Master had been in discussions 
with all users of the commercial area, and concerns were raised by the Lundy 
Company regarding loss of parking spaces, fuelling the Oldenberg etc.   Risk 

assessments are being carried out. 
 

 

Page 5



4 
 

 
 

During the discussion the following items were raised: 
 

 Fountains – to obtain quotes for repairs to the fountains.   Members were 
keen for these to be up and working again.  However, it was reported that 

this project had come forward during a previous round of capital bids and 
Members had dismissed it due to the cost. 

 

 Removal of all cars from the Quayside – the Quay is a tourist attraction. 
 

Members noted the Harbour Board minutes for the meeting held on 16 June 2022. 
 

 
 
The meeting commenced at 10 am and closed at 10.38 am. 

 
 

    
 
 

Page 6



ACTION LIST 

COMMUNITY & RESOURCES COMMITTEE – 12 Sept 2022 

Minute 

No. 

Action By Who Date 

Contacted 

Comments Completed 

259 Motion for the Ocean – 
To write to Government 

  Copy letter attached  

262 Pollution of the Estuary – 

To check if SWW had 
responded to questions 
forwarded to them from 

External O&S Committee. 
 

Dem 

Services 

 26.7.2022 - Karen (Dem Services) 

confirmed responses had been 
received and forwarded. 

 

268 Temporary Housing 

Accommodation – To bring 
to next meeting update re 
statutory duty on who the 

Authority must provide 
accommodation for. 

 
SK to check with the 
Planning Dept. that an 

application is required or 
whether it will be permitted 

development. 
 

SD 

 
 
 

 
 

 
SK 

 On agenda  

      

 

P
age 7

A
genda Item

 3



Page 8



Page 9



COMMUNITY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE FORWARD PLAN – 2022/23 
 

Leadership 
 

24 May 2022 12 July 2022 6 Sept 2022 11 Oct 2022 22 Nov 2022 10 Jan 2023 21 Feb 2023 28 March 2022 

         
Community 

& Resources 
(Mondays) 

6 June 2022 
6pm 

25 July 2022 
10am 

12 Sept 2022 
6pm 

24 Oct 2022 
10am 

5 Dec 2022 
6pm 

23 Jan 2023 
10am 

Budget 

Special 
30 Jan 

10am 

6 March 

2023 
6pm 

Tuesday 
11 April 2023 

10am 

Finance 
 

        

Performance 
 

        

 
Other 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Sports Ground – 
Jurassic Fibre 

(NA) 
 

Cllr Hodson 
Notice of Motion 
– Motion for the 

Ocean (SK) 
 

 

 
Hubbastone Road 

Conversion to 
Hostel (SK) 

 
Urgency Decision 

-Energy 
Discretionary 
Scheme (SD) 

 
Harbour Board 

mins 
 
 

 
Homelessness Duty to 
Accommodate/Support 

(SD) 
 

Digital by Default & 
ICT Strategy  

(Jon W) 
 

Tennis Courts at 

Torrington (SK/NA) 
 

Update on 

Skateboard Park  
(AR) 

 
PART II 

 
Disposal of TDC Land 

(AR) 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PART II 
 

Disposal of 
Council Asset 

(AR) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  
Fees & 

Charges (DH) 

  

                                         

                                           To add to Forward Plan November/December 2023 – to bring a report to Committee giving details of the running costs for Hubbastone Hostel (from meeting July 2022). 

P
age 10

A
genda Item

 5



 
  

REPORT OF Strategy, Performance & ICT Manager 

To: Community & Resources Committee 

Subject: Digital by Default & ICT Strategy 

Date: 12 September 2022 Reference:  

 
 
 
PURPOSE OF REPORT:     
 
To receive and approve the Digital by Default & ICT Strategy 2022-25 
 

 
 
 
1. INTRODUCTION 

  
The Council’s existing Digital by Default Strategy was approved by the Community & 
Resources Committee on the 16 October 2017 and is due a review. 
 
Digital by default means digital services which are so straightforward and convenient that all 
those who can use digital services will choose to do so, while those who can't are not 
excluded. 
 
 

2. REPORT 

 
As we start to look to the future, our follow-up strategy takes into account what we have 
learnt during the pandemic and lays down how we can digitally enhance services to better 
meet the needs of our communities. 
 
As the new Strategy indicates there is little doubt that the pace of change is increasing, with 
more of our customers using smart phones and tablets, and expecting to interact with us 
online and digitally, much like they do with their bank, supermarket, and other suppliers. 
 
We believe that the greatest sustainable level of channel shift comes from offering better, 
simplified and more integrated digital solutions whilst of course not forcing away those 
customers who still need to use traditional channels such as telephone or in person visits. 
 
The Strategy emphasises the importance providing a secure, resilient, and reliable core 
infrastructure as more and more of our services are reliant on technology. 
 
This draft Digital by Default & ICT Strategy (appendix A) was fully endorsed by the Internal 
Scrutiny Committee on the 26 July 2022. 
 
 

3. IMPLICATIONS 

 
Legal Implications 
Not applicable 
 
Financial Implications 
Not applicable as this is just the overarching strategy and any individual projects will be 
considered on a case-by-case basis 
 

Page 11

Agenda Item 9



 
  

Human Resources Implications 
Not applicable 
 
Sustainability/Biodiversity Implications 
Not applicable. 
 
Equality/Diversity 
Not applicable 
 
Risk Management 
Not applicable 
 
Compliance with Policies and Strategies 
This report in is in accordance with the constitution 
 
Data Protection (GDPR) Implications 
No personal information 
 
Climate Change 
Included where appropriate in the strategy 
 
Leader Views 
Councillor Ken James - I support this Digital by Default & ICT Strategy as the basis for the 
Council’s continuing digital transformation 
 

4. CONCLUSIONS 
 

Much of what we do today is driven by technology, which is advancing at a relentless pace 
and this Strategy provides the framework for how Torridge plans to embrace these changes 
and utilise them to improve the services we provide. 
 

5. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
That the Digital by Default & ICT Strategy is approved as the framework for continuing our 
digital transformation. 

Page 12



 

   
2022 - 2025 

Torridge District 

Council 

Digital by Default and ICT Strategy 

Page 13



Introduction 

Channel Shift - There is little doubt that the pace of change is increasing, with 
more of our customers using smart phones and tablets, and expecting to 
interact with us online and digitally, much like they do with their bank, 
supermarket, and other suppliers. 

Providing digital services that internal and external customers can have 
confidence in is reliant on a robust ICT infrastructure. This strategy is a 
combined approach to make sure that the council has digital capabilities 
considering culture, practices, processes, and technologies. 

It means working to a set of principles, focusing on user needs, and a 
commitment to making services digital by default, so that they are simpler, 
clearer, and faster for users. 

The council is a signatory to the Local Digital Declaration. That means we are 
committed to: 

 
Redesigning our services around the needs of the people using 
them 

  

 

Breaking our dependence on inflexible and expensive 
technology that doesn’t join up effectively, in favour of modular 
common components and open data standards 

  

 
Demonstrating digital leadership, creating the conditions for 
genuine organisational transformation 

  

 
Designing safe, secure, and useful ways of sharing information 
to build trust among our partners and citizens 

  

 

Embedding an open culture that values, incentivises and 
expects working in the open wherever we can, sharing our plans 
and experience, working collaboratively with other 
organisations, and reusing good practice 

 

 

  

Page 14

https://localdigital.gov.uk/declaration/


Strategic Direction 

The Council’s Strategic Plan 2020-23 sets out what the Council wants to 
achieve for Torridge and how we are going to achieve it. 

Our Vision is “Torridge a great place to live, work and visit” and the strategic 
themes that support this vision are: 

Theme 1 Local Economy 

Theme 2 Communities, Health, and Housing 

Theme 3 Our Environment Our Future 

Theme 4 Our Council 

These are underpinned by a commitment to professional, high performing 
service delivery. 

This Digital by Default & ICT Strategy seeks to complement and support the 
delivery of the Strategic Plan together with our operational business plans. 

At a time when expectation and demand is increasing and the resources, we 
have available for us are reducing we must find new delivery methods that 
meet both the demands and efficiencies required of us.  

Our ICT environment will be secure, accessible, and maintained to the highest 
standards. Our core platforms, systems, hardware, and devices must be fit for 
purpose and fit for the future. Our technology will enable and empower all of 
our users rather than add complexity to the work they do.  

Our systems and applications will be available to all of us, wherever we need 
to work from. They will operate at the latest versions and will be fully 
supported by our suppliers, and we will, where applicable, continue to provide 
platforms and software in the cloud where it is economically viable to do so.  
We will maximise the use of existing systems and past investment whilst 
embracing technological advances to deliver a truly flexible and mobile 
working environment that is fit for the digital age.  

Page 15



Why Digital by Default? 

Digital by Default is a keyway of both reducing costs and improving the service 
to our customers, whilst not forcing away those customers who still need to use 
traditional channels such as telephone or in person visits. 

Torridge has recognised the need to ‘shift’ but also accepts this will need to be 
achieved through ‘nudge’ methods for it to gain wider acceptance as a strategic 
approach. It must be recognised that the greatest level of channel shift comes 
from offering better, simplified and more integrated digital solutions. 

Providing self-service access to information and services at a time and by a 
range of channels that are convenient for the customer.  

Benefits include: 

✓ making sure digital services and content are accessible to all 
✓ creating a consistent experience across all channels 
✓ more effective and efficient customer engagement 

The business case for channel shift, in itself, is very compelling. As the table 
below shows, the cost of servicing a customer electronically, via the website, is 
a small fraction of that of seeing them face to face, or cost of them calling in. 

Channel 
Cost per ‘visit’ 

(average of Deloitte & Socitm research) 

Face to face £11.44 

Telephone £2.30 

Website 32p 

 

 

 

  

Page 16



Where Are We Now?  
 

The Council has been monitoring incoming work channels (website visitors, 
email traffic, telephone calls, visitors to reception, etc) for a number of years 
and this has enabled us to verify a clear shift in customer behaviours vis-à-vis 
their interaction with our officers. We have seen a significant/long-term fall off 

in physical visitors to our reception sites and reductions in telephone traffic; 

there has been an ongoing trend in using email as the primary source of 

contact with officers and growing levels of activity on our website. 

 

We have already responded to this behavioural shift in our customers by 

enabling access to our services in a way which meets those customer 

expectations and enhances the levels of services our customers receive. This 

has been happening in a number of ways:   
 

 

 
Our website has 
been re-designed to 
ensure that our on-
line services are 
easy to use and 
simple to follow 

 
Our on-line services are 
available 24 hours a day, 

365 days a year 
 

 

New products and services 
(e.g. the garden waste 
scheme) are available 

digitally to our customers 

 

 

 
 

 

We have implemented a robust 
work from anywhere solution to 

increase staff productivity 
 
 
 

 

We have identified 
opportunities to use 
Social Media to 
further promote and 
deliver our services 

 

 

 

This Digital by Default strategy highlights the next step in this process.  

  
Page 17



What We Will Do Next 

 

1. Robust, secure, and reliable ICT 

We will continue to provide a secure, resilient, and reliable core infrastructure 
and we will upgrade the Council's Physical and Virtual Microsoft server estate. 

We will take all measures necessary to protect our network against cyber-
attacks and to ensure robust arrangements are in place to deliver service 
continuity in the event of a component failure or other adverse incident.   

We will develop a Cyber Security Policy to help improve our cyber defences 
and provide direction to help address the ever-changing threat. 

 

2. Secure by design 

The security of our systems and data is of overriding importance. Information 
security will be designed into all our systems, changes, and processes right 
from the start. 

 

3. Council in the Cloud 

Cloud-hosted platforms and software provide an opportunity to move away 
from costly, locally hosted solutions towards better value in terms of access, 
service reliability and security.  

We will reduce our local infrastructure through a preference that systems will 
be vendor or cloud hosted where it is cost effective to do so.  

Benefits include: 

• reduced footprint – smaller data centre (or none) 
• specialist support – provided by supplier 
• optimisation – reducing costs over time 
• Disaster Recovery and Business Continuity improvements 
• Increased security  

 

4. Website  

We will continue to update our new website and promote channel shift through 
making more services available as online self-service whether for information 
requests, transactions, or reporting; increase integration with ‘line of business’ 
systems to enable more efficient processes and greater transparency. 

 Page 18



5. Printing & scanning review 

We will review all the printing and scanning throughout the Council and 
produce an Options Report to feed into the procurement of a new contract and 
provide options for improved printing and scanning.   

One of the aims of the review would be to make a positive impact on our 
climate commitment, through a continued reduction in the use of paper and 
associated services like postage. 

 

6. Continue the implementation of Microsoft 365  

We will aim to maximise the potential of the Microsoft 365 platform to support 
council-based innovation and development and find new opportunities to help 
deliver the maximum benefit for staff and customers. 

 

7. Information assets and data 

Maintain quality, confidentiality, integrity, and availability of data and enable 
use of comprehensive and powerful data analysis and manipulation tools. We 
will introduce a modern corporate GIS system that is an interactive and useful 
GIS tool available to staff and the public making better use of the data that we 
hold. 

Benefits include: 

✓ accurate and timely reporting to make informed decisions 
✓ analysis giving intelligence and enabling predictions, to aid decision 

making and policy shaping 
✓ data quality management 
✓ data security and protection 

 

8. Improving digital skills 

The Council will actively enhance the digital skills and cyber awareness of the 
workforce, the digital leadership and cyber awareness skills of senior 
managers and elected members to make optimal use of software and ICT. 

Benefits include: 

✓ digitally enabled workforce – comfortable with the tools they use 
✓ cyber aware and  
✓ development skills 
✓ building digital services 
✓ digital by default principles in everything we do 

Page 19



 

9. Modern telephony 

We will review our current telephony system and investigate cloud-based 
telephone system to provide improved capabilities, improved resilience and 
simplified telephony for services and customers. 

 

10. Continuous improvement 
 

• We will work with Services across the Council to review processes, 
redesign workflow, ensuring best use of software and technology and 
adding website forms to help increase productivity and the service to our 
customers. 
 

• We will also continue to develop the capabilities of the ICT Service Desk 
through the introduction of a range of self-help capabilities and greater 
automation of routine tasks. 
 

• We will review, improve and redesign our disaster recovery and business 
continuity plans and technologies around cloud-based technologies. 
 

• We will review and replace our legacy ICT code base systems. 

 

  

Page 20



Appendix A : Measuring Success 
 

It is essential that we can monitor progress and ensure that the work we are 
doing is delivering a tangible difference to our customers and enhancing the 
effective operation of the Council’s services. Therefore, this strategy will be 
supported by the measurement of performance indicators associated with the 
digital interactions with the Council. Progress will be reported periodically to 
the Strategic Management Team and via the QBR. 

In additional to reporting the number of visitors to our website, we will also 
report on activity on our website in terms of page views and submits, allowing 
us to analyse how many customers are viewing information on our website, 
and how many are performing on-line transactions. 

As services re-design their work processes and provide on-line forms for 
customers to interact more effectively with the Council, we will see further 
increases in these parameters. 

 

 

Note: The figures for 2021/22 were distorted by the implementation of the new 
website and the Covid crisis and are not a representative data set for future 
benchmarking. 

9289 9221
13570

24312 21687
26254

69701

2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021/22

Website Forms - Page Views

3102 2613 3614
4924 5255 6193

27974

2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021/22

Website Forms - Submit

Page 21



 

 

(only 3 year email data available due to a change of system) 

 

 

Data collated over the past seven years shows that the trend is a move away 

from the older/analogue means of customer contact towards digital means. 

- Inbound email traffic has gone up by almost 50% over the last 2 years 
- Website visitors has been increasing by 20% year. The 10% reduction this 

year is due to the new website launch and the cookies policy 
- Phone traffic has been declining (the lockdown year in 2020/21 distorted 

this). Landline calls made have reduced (homeworking). Outbound calls 
have risen (we now have mobile stats so we are reporting more calls). 

- Physical visitors to reception was reducing by 10% a year, but fell by 90% 
during lockdown. We have seen a 60% increase in 2021/22.  

- Social Media followers continue to rise and this should continue as 
Comms users additional/more modern platforms 
 

56,878

72,382
84,232

30,358 29,427
39,549

116,333

138,762

121,240

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

TDC Monthy Email TrafficInbound emails

Outbound emails

Internal emails

Page 22



 

 

 

33,972

30,285

27,443

25,115

19,135

1,948 3,135

20,833

16,667

12,500 9,476 8,957
9,901

8,4829,748 9,803

12,985

15,320

19,129

25,530

22,665

5,917 5,833 5,833 5,813
6,080

3,368 3,324
4,317

7933
7,114

2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

TDC Incoming Workflows (2015 - 2022)
Annual Visitors to reception

Average Monthly Phone Calls Answered

Average Monthly Website Visitors

Average Monthly Landline Calls Made

Average Monthly Mobile Calls Made

Page 23



 

Page 24



 
  

Agenda Item  

REPORT OF Head of Communities and Place 

To: Community and Resources Committee 

Subject: Former Tennis Courts off Gas Lane, Torrington leasehold disposal 

Date: August 2022 Reference:  

 
 
PURPOSE OF REPORT: To consider granting a 20 year lease of the tennis courts to Torrington FC 

 

 
1. INTRODUCTION 

 
The tennis courts, owned by TDC, have fallen into disuse and a poor state of repair. They have 
become a magnet for anti-social behaviour. Torrington FC would like to enter into a lease on the 
courts with TDC to enable them to invest in bringing the courts back into use as both a training 
facility for the club and for community use. 

 
 

2. REPORT 

 
 The tennis courts, which lie adjacent to Torrington FC’s ground at Vicarage Fields, have not been 
used for tennis for a number of years and as a result have fallen into disrepair. Given their 
somewhat hidden location with limited access, anti-social behaviour has become an unfortunate 
feature of the courts and the immediate surrounds. 
 
Torrington FC, who have been in on and off discussions with TDC since the current owners bought 
the club in 2018, put forward a proposal in September 2021 to secure the site and bring the courts 
back into use. As before the stumbling block was the club’s desire for a sufficiently long lease to 
enable them to secure funding whereas TDC was considering a 5 year lease partly as it was 
thought that there were possible future development options on the tennis courts. Given that there is 
no access from Gas Lane due to the long leases to the Scouts (expiry 2085) and DCC (expiry 2109 
and now sublet to Little Frogs Pre School until January 2031) and the only other possible access 
would require the acquisition of a residential unit should it come to market (no doubt at significantly 
above market price as the owners would realise that TDC would be a special purchaser), the site is 
landlocked and there is no valid argument for not investing in this community asset  in the hope of 
future development.  Adopting this approach opened the way to agreeing a longer lease term with 
the club and therefore allowing progress with the negotiations. 
 
Torrington FCs proposal is set out in their document dated September 2021. In summary they 
would look to secure the site and in the short term tidy the site, bringing it back into use and 
providing access from the football field. Once funding has been granted, a proper refurbishment 
would take place with a multi-use games surface. The grant of funding relies on a sufficiently long 
lease hence the proposal for a 20 year lease. The lease will not have security of tenure. In return for 
a nominal annual rent of £1, the club will be expected to repair and maintain the courts for the 
duration of the lease and also to make the courts available for community use at competitive rates. 
 
What the Council will not wish to do is effectively hand over the courts for 20 years with little or no 
control over their running for this period both in terms of maintenance and community use. Hence a 
Service Level Agreement will sit alongside the lease which will set out the split between the club’s 
and community use as well as setting out the club’s obligations in promoting community use. A 
review committee consisting Ward members, TDC officers and representatives from the club will 
meet annually which will ensure a level of accountability as well as offer the opportunity to vary the 

Page 25

Agenda Item 10



 
  

club’s or the community use by agreement as requirements change (both the club’s and the 
community’s) over the period of the lease. 

 
 

 
3. IMPLICATIONS 

 
Legal Implications 
 
Officer time preparing legal documents 

 
Financial Implications 
 
No further maintenance costs for TDC 
Capital investment into the courts at no cost to TDC 
 
Human Resources Implications 
TDC officer time at annual review meeting 
No further management responsibility for Property team 
 
Sustainability Implications 
n/a 
 
Equality/Diversity 
Through the Service Level Agreement, the club will be actively encouraged to ensure that 
the facilities are available for all members of the community 
 
Risk Management 
Reduction in the current level of anti-social behaviour/vandalism 
 
 
Compliance with Policies and Strategies 
Will help with the priorities of promoting active and healthy lifestyles and maintaining low 
levels of crime so that people feel safe and secure in their communities under the 
Communities, Health and Housing theme. 
 
 
Ward Member and Leader Member Views 
 
 
 

4 CONCLUSIONS 
 

This represents a great opportunity to bring a TDC asset back into life for the benefit of the 
community at no financial cost to TDC.  
 

 
5. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
That members approve the proposal to grant a lease of the Tennis Courts to Torrington FC as 
detailed in this report and give authority for the preparation and approval of the associated legal 
documentation.  

 
 
 

SUPPORTING INFORMATION 

Page 26



 
  

 
Consultations: Senior Management Team, Cllrs Bright and Cottle-Hunkin 
Contact Officer: Nick Argles 
Background Papers: Heads of Terms, Service Level Agreement and Torrington FC proposal dated 
September 2021 

    
    
     

 

Page 27


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Community & Resources Committee meeting held on 25 July 2022
	Minutes

	3 Action List
	3a - Letter

	5 Forward Plan
	9 Digital by Default & ICT Strategy
	9a - Appendix A Digital by default and ICT strategy 2022 to 2025 May 2022 final draft

	10 Torrington Tennis Courts

